OA 6.20.88

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

RAFFIELD FISHERIES, INC. and EUGENE RAFFIELD,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO: 71,677

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.



APR 15 1988

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Deputy Clerk

KENNETH G. OERTEL OERTEL & HOFFMAN, P.A. P.O. Box 6507 Tallahassee, FL 32314-6507 (904) 877-0099

Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

On June 25, 1986 Raffield Fisheries received permit number RD-001, from the U.S. Dept. of Commerce, to catch red drum by purse seine in the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) off the State of Louisiana. A copy of this permit is attached as Appendix A.

The EEZ is the area between the territorial waters of the states and the 200 mile limit claimed by the United States. These waters are commonly known as "Federal Waters." This zone is created by the Magnuson Fishery Conservation and Management Act, 16 U.S.C. 1801, et. seq.

The permit in question was one of a number issued by the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) of the U.S. Dept. of Commerce, under an emergency rule that imposed a total quota of 1 million pounds of red drum to be caught in the EEZ. A copy of this rule is attached as Appendix G to this brief.

The "Fishermans Pride", a vessel owned by Raffield Fisheries, participated in the catch. Permission was given by Raffield Fisheries to allow a person with the U.S. Dept. of Commerce to board the Fisherman's Pride and act as an observer during the time the fish were being caught. After the fishery was closed, the U.S. Dept. of Commerce acknowledged the cooperation of Raffield Fisheries and thanked it for its assistance and help to the Department. A copy of this acknowledgment is attached as Appendix B.

Pursuant to this permit the Fisherman's Pride caught many thousands of pounds of red drum in the EEZ off the coast of Louisiana, with the blessing and gratitude of the U.S. Dept. of Commerce. All these fish were caught by purse seine, several hundred miles from the territory of the State of Florida. The permit issued by the U.S. Dept. of Commerce specifically states the method of catch: "directed net fishery."

After the fish were caught, they were landed in Venice, Louisiana and trucked to Port St. Joe, Florida, where a battalion of Marine Patrol officers charged the Petitioners with possession of food fish taken by purse seine in violation of §370.08(3), F.S.

In June of 1986, when the Fisherman's Pride caught and landed its red drum off Louisiana, it was not illegal to commercially catch, possess or sell red drum in Florida, except for the purse seine law restrictions in §370.08(3), F.S., which is the subject of this appeal. The only other restriction in effect was a ban on catch or possession of oversized, native red drum. Neither Petitioner was charged with violation of this restriction.

For many years the U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA, under the authority of the Magnuson Act, 16 U.S.C. 1801, et. seq., has studied the status of red drum in the EEZ in the Gulf of Mexico.

In 1984 a study was released by the Gulf Council of NOAA regarding the status of red drum in the Gulf of Mexico. That report concluded no limitation on the catch of red drum in the EEZ was justified. As a consequence, the U.S. Dept. of Commerce determined no limitation of the catch of red drum would be accomplished by that agency. See Appendix C to Petitioners' brief.

When the U.S. Dept. of Commerce has determined to limit catch in the EEZ it adopts a Fisheries Management Plan, as described in the Magnuson Act, 16 U.S.C. 1853. When the emergency rule under which Raffield Fisheries participated was adopted by NOAA, it did not open the fishery, it began the process of restricting it, while the Department of Commerce studied whether a Fisheries Management Plan was justified.

Between January 1984 and until the emergency rule expired, the U.S. Dept. of Commerce had made a studied and conscious decision that no limitation of harvest of red drum in the EEZ was needed or justified. See Appendix C, at p. 19.

As Jack Brawner, the Director of the Southeast Region of the National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, U.S. Dept. of Commerce, testified before the Congressional Subcommittee on Fisheries and Wildlife on June 2, 1986:

> The profile was completed in January 1984, but did

not indicate any problems in the fishery of sufficient magnitude to warrant the development of a management plan. It did, however, serve to point up a number of data gaps that would be needed to be bridged in order for the Council and the Gulf States to construct a rational management system for the fishery.

Based upon the information available at that time, the Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council formally concluded that no need existed to develop a fishery management plan to regulate the redfish fishery in the fisheries conservation zone of the Gulf of Mexico.

[Appendix C, at p. 191

Further, before that same Congressional Subcomittee, also appeared Craig O'Conner, the General Counsel of the National Marine Fisheries Service, who testified as follows:

> There are certain State laws in existence which arguably could have a significant effect, if you will, on the regulation of this resource to the extent that they may address the activities of State-registered vessels, but we are in the unfortunate situation of being in a position where the Federal Government has taken an action and that action was to conclude in one form or another that no management was necessary in the fishery conservation zone for redfish, and what in effect that did was render null and void the application

of State laws to activities applying in the fishery conservation zone.

As you are well aware, the Magnuson Act precludes direct or indirect regulation by States of the fishing activities occurring in the FCZ if those regulations are in conflict with the Federal pronouncements with regard to that fishery.

[Appendix C, at p. 22]

In the words of the persons who administer the Magnuson Fishery Conservation and Management Act, 16 U.S.C. 1801, et. seq., in the opinion of the National Marine Fisheries Service, at least since 1984, the U.S. Government had preempted any powers the states may have had over its fishermen to restrict activities in the EEZ, through the enforcement of state laws.

That is the interpretation given by the persons who implement the Magnuson Act as to the significance of their decision, in January 1984, not to adopt a management plan for red drum in the EEZ within the Gulf of Mexico.

Since 1984 the decision of the Federal Government was not to restrict the catch of red drum in the EEZ. The adoption of the emergency rule started the process of restricting the total harvest.

The emergency rule contained the following language at §653.3(d): "These regulations will not be construed

to supersede any State law which prohibits the landing or possession within the jurisdiction of that State of any red drum." At that time, as noted, Florida had a limitation on catch of oversized red drum, caught in Florida waters (Rule 46-22.003(2), F.A.C.; other states, such as Texas, forbade the commercial sale of native red drum.

The federal emergency rule did not, as it could have, preempt the effectiveness of state laws over fish caught within the territorial waters of the states.

The trial court, by order of Judge Taunton, (R. Vol. I, p. 179) held Section 370.08(3) to be unconstitutional, and dismissed all charges. Among the reasons given by that court was that because the fish were legally caught, pursuant to a permit issued by the U.S. Dept. of Commerce, the State of Florida could not make what was legal and lawful under federal law illegal.

Further, Judge Taunton recognized that the 1 million pounds of red drum allowed by the emergency rule, issued by the U.S. Dept. of Commerce, would be caught whether or not Raffield Fisheries had participated in the catch. Judge Taunton questioned whether Florida's legitimate interest allowed the purse seine law to be applied where it would only work to keep a lawfully captured fish from being used in commerce within the State of Florida.

Assuming the purse seine law to have a legitimate purpose, Judge Taunton wondered what valid reason would be served by making possession of such fish illegal under these circumstances.

Further, because the law makes no distinction between food fish in which Florida has a legitimate interest and those fish in whether it does not, Judge Taunton found the statute to be fatally defective.

Judge Taunton was persuaded in part on this point by depositions taken of high officials of the Florida Marine Patrol. Transcripts of those depositions were filed with the Court and are in the record, in R. Vol. II and Vol. IV.

Colonel Ellingsen, the Director of the Florida Marine Patrol, gave testimony on the question of under what circumstances Florida's purse seine law operates on activities outside the territory of the State of Florida.

According to Colonel Ellingsen, as he testified on pages 11-14, of this deposition, (R. Vol. 11) as to how far from the territorial boundaries of the State of Florida the State could reach in the enforcement of the statute in question, he stated he didn't think the issue was one of distance, per se. In Colonel Ellingsen's opinion the enforcement of the statute in question, Florida's purse seine law, outside its territorial boundaries, was whether

Florida ''has an interest in that particular fishery." (R. Vol. 11, p. 11) In explaining his answer Colonel Ellingsen by hypothetical stated:

> If someone said a Florida purse seine boat were catching salmon off the coast of Alaska, I don't think that would that the State of Florida would have a legitimate interest in that fishery. But, if somebody were catching kingfish, Spanish mackeral, or redfish, or perhaps even mullet, a species that would be a concern, and what I think would be a legitimate interest to the State of Florida, we would review that and look at it.

Colonel Ellingsen also interpreted the possession, prohibitions in the Florida purse seine law to only apply to fish indigenous to the State of Florida. As he testified on page 16 of his deposition:

> Q: So it has to be a Florida fish or fish that's part of our own fishery?

A: The example I used before, salmon off the coast of Alaska, we would not be - we would not investigate that.

Q: That's because it's not a Florida fish?

A: That's my interpretation (p. 16, Ellingsen depo.)

In addition to Colonel Ellingsen, Colonel Clifford S. Kidd's deposition was taken. He is Deputy Director of the Florida Marine Patrol. . Colonel Kidd's understanding of the extraterritorial effect of Florida's purse seine law was that it would be a violation even for a Florida resident and a Florida vessel to purse seine for food fish off Nova Scotia, (R. Vol. IV, p. 73) and that it would be a violation no matter where in the world such fish were caught; that it would <u>not</u> be a violation for someone who was <u>not</u> a Florida resident, not in a Florida vessel, using a purse seine to catch food off Nova Scotia. (R. Vol. IV) However, in Kidd's opinion, any purse seined food fish, regardless of where they were caught or who caught them, or from what type of vessel, could not be legally offered for sale in the State of Florida. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 74-75)

Judge Taunton found that where even the law enforcement officers could not believe this act would reasonably apply to fish not native to Florida, despite the clear language of the statute, that the act was impermissibly vague.

He also could not see any legitimate local purpose to be served by this statute, particularly in this case. As the fish in question were legally caught by authority of a federal permit, Judge Taunton reasoned that the effect of the law was to deny these fish to commerce to Floridians, but allow them to the rest of the nation. As the 1 million pound quota was to be caught with or without the participation of Florida fishermen, he found the law to also violate the Commerce Clause.

Throughout this case the State has not maintained that the fish in question were caught illegally. Since the catching, by purse seine, was done with the benefit of a federal permit, the State does not apparently contend that Florida's purse seine law could make that activity illegal. See State's Response to Motion to Dismiss, at R. 58.

The State appealed Judge Taunton's decision to the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida. On October 20, 1987, the court issued its decision, reversing Judge Taunton. Rehearing was denied on December 7, 1987.

In its opinion, the District Court of Appeal found there was no federal preemption of the State's purse seine law; that \$370.08(3) did not violate the Federal Commerce Clause as the purpose of the law was "protecting the state's supply of food fish." (Slip opinion, p. 5)

Further, the District Court of Appeal did not find the statute to be void for vagueness as the possession of purse seined fish was clearly forbidden.

Finally, the court below saw no equal protection problems in this case, even though the fish were legally caught, the court was not disturbed that it applied only to Floridians and not to citizens of other states. On this point the District Court of Appeal stated:

Similarly, we find no violation of the equal protection clause

by the statute in question, as it regulates the taking of food fish by Florida citizens outside the territorial waters of the state in order to enforce a matter for which the state has a legitimate interest - the conservation of the fishery resource.

(Slip opinion, p. 7)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners, Eugene Raffield and Raffield Fisheries, are in the business of catching, processing and selling fish. Criminal charges were filed against them for possessing food fish (red drum) which had been caught by purse seine in apparent violation of §370.08(3), F.S.

This statute forbids any person from catching food fish, anywhere in the world, by purse seine and forbids any person from possessing, for sale, any fish **so** caught. Petitioners believe this statute is invalid and unenforceable.

The fish were caught in federal waters off Louisiana, pursuant to a specific permit issued by the U.S. Department of Commerce for that purpose. That permit was issued in conformity with a rule adopted by the U.S. Department of Commerce. The fish were landed in Venice, Louisiana, not in Florida.

Catching of redfish in federal waters is regulated by the U.S. Department of Commerce pursuant to the Magnuson Act, 16 U.S.C. 1801. The state law cannot be applied to activities authorized by the U.S. Government as that would be a direct conflict with applicable federal law. The state cannot forbid what the Federal Government allows, particularly where, as here, the relevant federal statutes gives the United States <u>exclusive authority</u> over the fishery.

Further, Florida law is an improper restraint on commerce between the states as it would prevent redfish, legally caught under federal rules and a permit, from being transported into and possessed within this state. It is in violation of the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

When a state law forbids an article, such as fish, from entering a state, it is clearly discriminatory. To be valid in such a circumstance the statute must pass the "strict scrutiny'' test: 1) The law must serve a legitimate local purpose; and 2) there must be no less discriminatory alternative available. This statute fails both parts of the strict scrutiny test. Because the statute is **so** broad, its prohibitions extend to fish not ever found in Florida and to products, such as canned sardines, anchovies, etc., that Florida has no interest in banning. Further, if Florida needs to protect a species of fish it may do **so** by rule of the State Marine Fisheries Commission. This would be a much less restrictive alternative to the statute.

The law is much too broad to be valid, and leads everyone who would interpret it in a reasonable fashion to be hopelessly confused and to guess as to its meaning, particularly where, as here, the activities took place hundreds of miles from Florida. This violates due process standards.

This statute prohibits activities that are totally harmless to the interests of the state. It goes beyond the legitimate restraints on the police power of a state.

Also, the law would discriminate against Florida citizens who desire to participate in this fishery, and allow citizens of other states to enjoy those benefits with impunity from the criminal penalties in the statute. This violates equal protection standards.

Further, the United States has not consented to state regulation in this area. The U.S. Department of Commerce has on several occasions stated the federal laws at issue here totally preempt all conflicting fishing, landing and possession laws that would apply to fish caught in these federal waters.

POINT I

FLORIDA'S PURSE SEINE LAW, SECTION 370.08(3) GOES BEYOND THE LEGITIMATE INTERESTS OF THE STATE TO PROTECT ITS LOCAL RESOURCES

The District Court of Appeal presumed the purpose of Florida's purse seine law was to promote the conservation of the "fishery resource." For purposes of this appeal the Petitioners agree that is the purpose of the statute in question. It is the only logical reason why any state would pass a law that limits and restricts fishing gear and the possession of fish caught by such prohibited gear. But the District Court of Appeal's analysis of this case ignored the question of whether the statute goes beyond the state's valid interests.

The District Court only considered half the question of the potential due process infirmities of the statute in question. The Court considered that since the act clearly forbade possession of purse seined fish it was not vague. However, as was stated in <u>NAACP v. Button</u>, 371 U.S. 415, 432-33 (1963): "The objectional quality of . . . overbreadth does not depend upon absence of fair notice of prohibited conduct, but upon the danger of tolerating penal penalties for a broad range of behavior and the improper application of a statute to conduct what is otherwise not objectionable."

In the case of <u>Sawyer v. Sandstrom</u>, 615 F.2d 311 (5th Cir. 1980) the United States Circuit Court of Appeals struck down Dade County's loitering ordinance, not because it was vague but because it invaded the area of protected freedoms. As the Court stated in <u>Sawyer</u>, supra:

> However, the fact that an enactment provides adequate notice of the acts it prohibits does not absolve it of the vice of overbreadth.

p. 315.

If the statute in question goes beyond reaching the protection of legitimate or justified state interests, it is overly broad and must be stricken regardless of its purpose.

Surely the State of Florida has no compelling state interests in banning any fish from the world's oceans from being caught by purse seine and to prohibit the possession of all such fish for purposes of sale within the state. As the First District Court of Appeal stated in its opinion below, the State's legitimate interests are the conservation of its fishery resource. However, the act in question clearly goes beyond the protection of those interests. Under Florida Statutes it is as much a violation to purse seine redfish in the Gulf of Mexico as it is to catch salmon off the coast of Alaska with a purse seine and transport such fish into the State of Florida for purposes of sale.

As this Court has stated in many cases, one of which is <u>Conner v. Cone</u>, 235 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1970), if a statute goes beyond protecting the valid interests of the state to insure the health, safety and welfare of its citizens the act is arbitrary and is a denial of due process as well as equal protection guarantees in the Federal and State Constitutions.

The ban in §370.08(3), Florida Statutes, forbidding any person, not just Florida citizens, from using a purse seine, within or without waters of the State of Florida, means that under Florida law it is illegal to catch a food fish with a purse seine anywhere in the world. The law further makes it illegal to possess, for purposes of sale, any food fish caught by this apparatus.

The Petitioners here in this case are charged with violation of the possession part of that statute. As noted above, had they possessed sardines caught off the coast of Peru by purse seine or any such fish from the four corners of the world, they would be equally guilty under this statute. Clearly, the statute suffers from the fatal defect of overbreadth as it proscribes conduct that is unquestionably beyond any valid exercise of the State's police powers.

The infirmity of the act in question is more apparent when one contrasts the statute and facts in this case with those situations where the courts have found

the states to be within their police powers to prohibit fishing outside its boundaries.

In <u>Skiriotes v. State of Florida</u>, 313 U.S. 69, 61 S.Ct. 924, 85 L. Ed 1193 (1941), the U.S. Supreme Court found that Florida could prohibit its citizens from using diving equipment to commercially harvest sponges from outside its territorial waters.

In <u>Skiriotes</u> the law in question was limited to a single species of marine animals: sponges that were native to Florida waters and were under protection of the act.

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