OA 6-20-88



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

EUGENE RAFFIELD and RAFFIELD FISHERIES, INC.,

Petitioner,

-VS-

CASE NO. 71,677

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TOM GARDNER
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLES R. McCOY
ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL
3900 COMMONWEALTH BOULEVARD
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32303
(904) 488-9314

BRADFORD L. THOMAS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
ATTORNEY NO. 365424
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSELS FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Section 370.08(3), Florida Statutes (1985), a fishery conservation law, prohibits over-efficient purse-seining of saltwater foodfish; and bans the possession of foodfish so caught. The statute regulates commercial fishing, which is not a fundamental right. The law passes constitutional muster on equal protection grounds because it creates no impermissible classifications. It also is rationally related to a legitimate state objective -- the conservation of a decimated foodfish from Raffield's reliance on outrageous seine netting. purse hypothetical applications of the law are not relevant. The statute is the least restrictive possible prohibition to prevent the depletion of redfish.

The statute provides adequate notice of the prohibited conduct to persons of average intelligence. It is not subject to overbreadth for analysis as it does not infringe fundamental rights.

Raffield was charged with violation of the possession ban in \$370.08(3), Fla.Stat. (1985). This ban was expressly preserved by the emergency federal regulations applicable to Raffield at the time of his arrest. Not only does this preservation distinguish this case from all other Magnuson Act preemption cases that have reached this Court, but it represents federal

consent to the possession ban.

Because Raffield was not charged with violating the purseseine ban in 370.08(3), the question of federal preemption of its extraterritorial enforcement, through the mere presence of the Magnuson Act, is irrelevant. However, that Act expressly recognizes continued state authority. See 16 U.S.C. §1856(a).

Section 370.08(3) is a proper exercise of the State's police power to protect "wildlife" (i.e., redfish) from excessive commercial harvest, a matter historically left to the states. It does not facially or implicitly discriminate against interstate commerce. Its effect on interstate commerce is at most an incidental burden necessary to achieve its reasonable purpose. Under well-established federal decisions, and recent decisions by Florida courts, §370.08(3) does not violate the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

ISSUE I

SECTION 370.08(3), FLORIDA STATUTES IS CONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The State notes initially that Raffield's arguments regarding the alleged equal protection and due process concerns with Florida's purse seine law are intertwined. For clarity's sake, The State will address separately the reasons why Section 370.08(3), Florida Statutes, is constitutional both on equal protection and due process grounds, in that order.

A. SECTION 370.08(3), FLORIDA STATUTES IS A RATIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF PROHIBITED COMMERCIAL FISHING CONDUCT, AND IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

Raffield's equal protection arguments are totally without merit. Florida's laudable legislative declaration that overefficient netting of certain foodfish, critical to Florida's economy for recreation and a food source, is a rational exercise of governmental power necessary to accomplish a permissible state objective. See Cleveland Board of Education v. Lafleur, 414 U.S. 632 (1974), Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1 (1961); McGowan v. Maryland, 366 U.S. 420 (1967). Raffield has in no way demonstrated "purposeful discrimination." McClesky v. Kemp, 477 U.S. _____, 95 L.Ed.2d 262, 107 S.Ct. 1756 (1987); Whitus v.

Georgia 385 U.S. 545 (1967). Raffield cannot allege he is a member of a subject classification. Therefore the statute in question is <u>not</u> subject to strict scrutiny, but only whether it is a rational exercise of governmental power. Even when a suspect classification is involved, such as rule, a criminal defendant who alleges an equal protection violation must demonstrate the "existence of purposeful discrimination." McClesky, supra; Whitus. Raffield has utterly failed to meet any standard of persuasion regarding an alleged equal protection violation. Clearly, no "impermissible classification" is even involved here.

Raffield's crucial error in his claim that a preference to engage in intense commercial fishing is a fundamental right. (Raffield's brief, p. 16). See White v. State, 93 Fla. 905, 113 94 (1927). (Proper to protect saltwater fishery from "cupidity of those who live by the industry.") Thus, he cites to cases interpreting freedom of expression and association. NAACP V. Button, 371 U.S. 415 (1963); Sawyer V. Sandstrom, 615 F.2d (5th Cir. 1980). 311 Commercial fishing is not fundamental right. See S. E. Fisheries, Assoc. Inc. 453 So,2d Department of Natrual Resources, 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984); Williamson Optical, 348 U.S. 483 (1955); Lee Sisk v. Texas Parks and Wildlife Department, 644 F.2d 1056 (5th Raffield's reliance on case law interpreting Cir. 1981). statutory impacts fundamental rights is therefore on unpersuasive.

The State need only demonstrate the statute is rationally related to a legitimate state objective, as it does not impinge a fundamental right. See, e.g. Vance v. Bradley, 440 U.S. (1979); New Orleans v. Dukes, 427 U.S. 297 (1976). Of course, the legislation is presumed constitutional. McGowan v. Maryland, 366 **U.S.** 420 (1961). Raffield must therefore negate "every conceivable basis which might support it." Madden v. Kentucky, 309 U.S. 83 (1940). Any legitimate purpose to which the legislation is rationally related will serve to uphold the act in the absence of legislative articulation of purposes. Delaware River Basin Commission v. Bucks County Water and Sewer 1981); **Alabama** Authority, 641 F.2d 1087 (3rd Cir. Federation of Teachers, AFL-CIO v, James, 656 F.2d 193 (5th Cir. The district court correctly discerned the rational 1981). relation of the instant statute, basicially prohibiting overfishing, to several legitimate state interests, such as the protection of a foodfish, tourism and recreational fishing and stable economic return. See State v. Raffield, 515 So.2d 283, 286 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Pulford V. Graham, 418 So.2d 1204,1205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). This Court should affirm the decision of the district court.

In Livings v. Davis, 465 So.2d at 508, the Florida Supreme Court declared that "a state can [constitutionally] regulate the fishing activities of its citizens beyond the state's territorial waters when there is no conflict with a federal regulatory scheme." There is no conflict here. <u>See</u> Respondent's Issue 11,

In urging this Court to overlook Livings, Raffields rely federal district court decisions the primarily upon Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v. Livings, Raffield's App. D, and Bethell v. State of Florida, et al., (S.D. Fla. 1983, Case No. 82-1516-CIV-JWK, vacated and remanded, 741 F.2d 1341 (11th Cir. 1984). These cases baldly intimate that one state's enforcement of statutes prohibiting the taking of marine products in federal waters may deprive its citizens of equal protection of the law if other adjacent states have no such statutes. absurd extension of this argument -- that no state can enforce its laws against its citizens only -- would deprive all states of any extraterritorial enforcement powers, a result clearly not intended by the Magnuson Act. If this Court is inclined to rely upon lower federal decisions as persuasive authority regarding equal protection claims, it need look no further than Anderson Seafoods, Inc. v. Graham, 529 F.Supp. 512 (N.D. Fla. 1982), wherein the local federal district court refused to enjoin the State from enforcing §370,08(3) against Florida-registered vessels in federal waters. Anderson Seafoods is consistent within the holding of the United States Supreme Court Skiriotes V. Florida, 313 U.S. 69, 75 (1941). The State has not violated Raffield's equal protection rights under the constitution.

B. FLORIDA'S PURSE SEINE LAW DOES NOT VIOLATE THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE STATE OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

There is a crisis in redfish management in Florida. 46-22.009, F.A.C. (Sept. 30, 1987); Marine Fisheries Commission v. Organized Fisherman of Florida, 503 So.2d 935 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Raffield claims the instant statute goes beyond protecting the valid interests of the state to protect the health, safety and welfare of the people of Florida. ask whether the total decimation of the redfish fishery must occur before Raffield would concede that State may take the necessary steps to prevent this. See Maine v. Taylor, U.S. , 106 S.Ct. 2440, 91 L.Ed.2d 110 (1986). Florida does not have "to sit idly by and wait until potentially irreversible environmental damage has occurred or until the scientific before community agrees. it acts to avoid such consequences." Taylor, 91 L.Ed.2d at 127. Section 370.08(3) is one of the <u>least</u> restrictive statutory methods of preventing the collapse of the redfish fishery. The State emphasizes that the State's most recent fishery rule now prohibits all possession of redfish, regardless of method of catch.

This Court has recognized that it is not a denial of due process to prohibit the "possession within its boundaries of 'small shrimp' removed from water outside its boundaries." State v. Millington, 377 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1979). Raffield of course

does not even have standing to challenge any potentially <u>improper</u> application of Section 370.08(3), as such as not occurred. <u>See</u> State v. Hill, 372 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1979). Raffield, like Millington, has been charged with the <u>possession</u> of saltwater fish, taken by proscribed methods outside Florida (R 181-182). Millington, 377 So.2d at 687. The facts here are indistinguishable from Millington.

This Court in Millington restated that the "fishing industry [is] a proper subject for state legislative regulation and protection. • . " 377 So.2d at 687. Raffield cloaks his attacks on the wisdom of the purse seine law behind the cape of due process arguments. He cites a litany of absurd applications of the statute, for which he has not standing to challenge. supra. This Court furthermore must interpret any statute in a constitutional manner, where possible. Southeastern Fisheries Inc. V. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351, 1354 (Fla. 1984); Miami Dolphins Ltd. v. Dade County, 394 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1981). Here, there is no question that it is constitutional to prosecute Raffield for the possession of 85,000 pounds of a decimated foodfish caught by an over-efficient netting method. See Skiriotes v. Florida, 313 U.S. 69, 77 (1941). This Court should affirm the district court's ruling.

The statute does not violate substantive due process, as it is rationally related to a legitimate state interest. Contrary

to Raffield's claim, the statute does not apply to "all waters of the world," but only to the over-efficient netting of certain foodfish, caught aboard Florida vessels, or knowingly possessed in Florida. Raffield's reliance upon federal district court opinions is misplaced as such is not binding on this Court. Roche v. State, 462 So.2d 1096, 1099 note two (Fla. 1985). The State notes that the opinion in Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v. Livings, (S.D. Fla. 1983), Raffield's App. "C", contains no authority for its bald assertion that §370.08(3) is "neither fair nor equitable." By its logic, Florida could not prohibit its citizens from drug trafficking if Alabama allowed its citizens to do so, as such would deny "benefits" to Florida's citizens. Both district court opinions cited by Raffield relied on Florida case law no longer in effect. See Issue 11, infra; Livings v. Davis, 465 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1985). This Court need simply examine the conservation law's obvious rational relation to a legitimate State interest, which the State has adequately demonstrated. See Marine Fisheries Comm v. OFF. supra; Skiritoes, supra; Bayside Fish Flour Co, v. Gentry, 297 U.S. 422 In Bayside the Supreme Court properly recognized that (1936).for a state to distinguish between fish caught outside the state's jurisdiction would allow "the covert depletion of the local supply. . . " 297 U.S. at 422. Prohibiting the overefficient netting of certain food-fish, regardless of where caught, is absolutely necessary to prevent the easy evasion of

the law. <u>See</u> Maine V. Taylor, supra. State law enforcement officials could not enforce game laws if they had to determine whether an illegally possessed deer came from Georgia or Florida.

1. Procedural Due Process

As noted, this Court has specifically held a fish conservation statute is not subject to an overbreadth attack. Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351,1353 (1984). Therefore, Raffield's claim that §370.08(3) "suffers from the total defect of overbreadth as it proscribes conduct beyond • • • the State's police power" is fatally defective legal reasoning. See Raffield's brief, page seventeen.

Raffield's only remaining argument is that the statute is vague. Yet this Court has held similar attacks on another conservation statrute regarding imported crawfish, to be "without merit." Kenny V. Kirk, 212 So.2d 296 (Fla.1968). See also, Southeastern Fisheries, supra. Raffield's comment that the statute could be applied to Peruvian sardines is irrelevant, as the only question is whether \$370.08(3) is constitutional as applied to him. New York V. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747 (1982); Falzone V. State, 500 So.2d 1337 (Fla.1987). In State V. Millington, 377 So.2d 685, 687 (Fla.1979), this Court held that a criminal defendant charged with illegal possession of undersized shrimp taken from the Gulf and landed in Tampa lacked standing to

challenge the pertinent statute on due process and equal protection grounds, to the extent that it made possession of such shrimp on the high seas a criminal offense. See also State V. Hill, 372 So.2d 84 (Fla.1979). Therefore, the only question presented concerning Raffield's vagueness claim is: Can there be any doubt but that Raffield, a successful businessman of at least average intelligence, understood that his possession of redfish he knew were taken by purse seine, violated \$370.08(3). See Marrs v. State, 413 So.2d 774 (Fla.1st DCA 1982).

The answer is of course not. Just as "the State of Florida [may] constitutionally proscribe the possession within boundaries of 'small shrimp' removed from waters outside its boundaries" consistent with the due process clauses, State v. Millington, 377 So.2d 685,688, so too may it proscribe the instate possession of redfish taken on the open seas. See also, State v. Hill, supra. Raffield's claim that \$370.08(3) violates due process because it purportedly is not calculated to fulfill the legitimate state interest of protecting the redfish is largely irrelevant, see State v. Millington, supra; and totally false, see State Marine Fisheries Comm. v. Organized Fishermen of The State has consistently asserted only that Florida, supra, petitioner's in-state transportation and possession of redfish taken outside Florida's territorial waters violated §370.08(3). (R 183).

Raffield's vagueness argument premised on allegedly differing interpretations of the statute, (Raffield's brief, page 20) is without merit, as "small variances in the understanding of individual officers which could possibly be calrified on closer reading of the statute to not necessarily show vagueness."

Gardner v. Johnson, 451 So.2d 477 (Fla.1984). Furthermore, Section 370.08(3) gives adequate notice of the prohibited conduct. The statute contains three distinct subclasses, each readily understandable by people of average intelligence.

The first clause informs that "no person may take (certain) food fish within • • • the waters of this state" by certain netting practices. Redfish are specifically designated as a "food fish" by §370.01(12), Fla.Stat. No reasonable person could fail to understand therefore that the netting of redfish within Florida's waters is prohibited. No ambiguity there.

The second clause prohibits the same over-efficient netting of fish caught from outside Florida's waters. The United States Supreme Court has recognized that "the State of Florida may • • • govern the conduct of its citizens upon the high seas with respect to matters in which the state has a legitimate interest." Skiriotes v. Florida, 313 U.S. 69,77 (1941). Such regulation may be done legislatively, assuming one element of the offense occurs within Florida. See Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So.2d 1351,supra; Burns v. Rosen, 201 So.2d 629 (Fla.1st DCA 1967); §910.005, Fla.Stat.

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